NO. 94190.4

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 1

COA NO. 73650-7-I

SURAJ PINTO

Petitioner,

v.

GREGORY VAUGHN AND "JANE DOE" VAUGHN; PAOLA LEONE AND "JANE DOE" LEONE; LEONE & VAUGHN, DDS, PS, DBA LEONE & VAUGHN ORTHODONTICS; L. DOUGLAS TRIMBLE AND "JANE DOE" TRIMBLE,

Respondents.

On Appeal from King County Superior Court The Honorable Judge Sean O'Donnell King County Superior Court No. 14-2-23326-4

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Edward C. Chung, WSBA#34292 Attorney for Petitioner, Suraj Pinto

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER					
II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1					
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 2					
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
V. ARGUMENT6					
A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW TO BE APPLIED ON APPEAL IN DETERMINING THE QUALIFICATIONS FOR EXPERTIONING IN A SUMMARY JUDGMENT PROCEEDING IS "DE NOVO" NOT "ABUSE OF DISCRETION". ACCORDINGLY THE JANUARY 23, 2017 COURT OF APPEALS DECISION CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS RENDERED BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS					
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TO UPHOLD THE STRIKING OF DR. PANOMITROS DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE BURNET DECISION					
C. THE PRACTICE MEDICAL DENTISTRY IS SUBJECT TO REGIONAL BOARD EXAMINATION BY THE WESTERN REGIONAL EXAMINING BOARD, AS A MATTER OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST SUCH STANDARD OF CARE SHOULD BE BASED ON A NATIONAL STANDARD OF CARE					
VI CONCLUSION 10					

VII. APPENDIXES				
•	Appendix A: January 23, 2017 Order			
•	Appendix B: Statue RCW 7.70.040			
•	Appendix C: CR 26i			
•	Appendix D: CR 56(c)			
•	Appendix E: CR 26			
•	Appendix F: CR 37(b)			

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 81 Wash.2d 140, 142, 500 P.2d 88 (1972)8
Blair v. TA-Seattle E. No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 348, 254 P.3d 797 (2011)14
Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997)
Citing, McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 706, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989) (quoting, Bernal v. America Honda Motor Co., 8 Wn.2d 406, 413, 533 P.2d 107 (1976)7
Elber v. Larson, 142 Wn. App. 243, 247, 173 P.3d 990 (2007)8
Eng v. Klein, 127 Wn. App. 171, 176, 110 P.3d 844 (2005)10
Fisons, 122 Wash.2d at 355-56, 858 P.2d 105411, 7
Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)7
Hill v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 143 Wn. App. 438, 453, 177 P.3d 1152 (2008); Elber v. Larson, 142 Wn. App. 243, 247, 173 P.3d 990 (2007); Pon Kwock Eng v. Klein, 127 Wn. App. 171, 176-77, 110 P.3d 844 (2005)
Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 338, 314 P.3d 380 (2013)14
Lane v. Brown & Haley, 81 Wn.App. 102, 106, 912 P.2d 1040
McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp

113 Wn.2d 701, 706, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989) (quoting, Bernal v. America Honda Motor Co., 8 Wn.2d 406, 413, 533 P.2d 107 (1976)
Miller v. Jacoby, 145 Wn.2d 65, 33 P.3d 68 (2001)
Miller v. Peterson, 42 Wn. App. 822, 830, 714 P.2d 695 (1986)
Morton v. McFall, 128 Wn. App. 245, 253, 115 P.3d 1023 (2005)
Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 677-80, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001)10
Snedigar v. Hodderson, 53 Wn.App. 476, 487, 768 P.2d 1 (1989)
White v. Kent Med. Ctr., 61 Wn. App. 163, 173-74, 810 P.2d 4 (1991)
Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wash.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982)10
Statutes Statutes RCW 7.70.040
CR 26i
CR 56 (c)

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner, Mr. Suraj Pinto, by and through his counsel of record, Edward C. Chung, files this Petition for Review.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On January 23, 2017, the Court of Appeals, Division I (hereafter "Court of Appeals") affirmed the trial court's order granting Respondent, L. Douglas Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment that effectively dismissed Mr. Pinto's claims for medical malpractice and lack of informed consent. *See*, **Appendix A** attached hereto and within is a true and correct copy of the January 23, 2017 order. The June 12, 2015 order was predicated on the fact that Mr. Pinto's medical experts, James C. Rockwell, MD, a Washington State licensed medical doctor, specializing in ears, nose and throats (*aka*, ENT), as well as Jay Grossman, DDS; a licensed dentist from the State of California and the State of Nevada, failed to provide the requisite opinion on the standard of care and the material risks required for consent. In terms of Dr. Grossman, his testimony was disregarded as he was not qualified to provide competent testimony in accordance with RCW 7.70.040. *See*, **Appendix B** attached hereto and within is a true and correct copy of the Statute RCW 7.70.040.

Petitioner, Mr. Suraj Pinto, seeks also seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision entered on January 23, 2017 affirming the trial court's September 17, 2015 order dismissing Respondents, Leone & Vaughn Orthodontics and Gregory Vaughn and Paola Vaughn in their individual capacity, as well as the October 12, 2015 court order striking Mr. Pinto's expert, Nicholas E. Panomitros, DDS based on *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals' January 23, 2017 decision applied the wrong standard of review is assessing the qualification of expert medical testimony and if so whether such decision conflicts with Washington State Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions?

Answer: Yes, the January 23, 2017 (Page 7) decision evidences that the Court of Appeals applied an abuse of discretion standard as oppose to de novo standard in relation to the qualifications of medical expert testimony. This amounts to reversible error.

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's order it striking Mr. Pinto's expert, Dr. Panomitros, as an expert for discovery violations?

Answer: Yes, the Court of Appeal's affirmation of trial court's imposition of the severe sanction of excluding Mr. Pinto's expert without first having at least considered, on the record, a less severe sanction that could have advanced the purposes of discovery was clearly contrary to the established case law of both its own previous decisions and the decisions of this Court.

3. As the practice medical dentistry is subject to regional board examination by the Western Regional Examining Board, whether as a matter of substantial public interest such standard of care should be based on a national standard of care as opposed to a state standard of care?

Answer: Yes, in the case at bar, Mr. Pinto's dental expert is Nicholas Panomitros, DDS. He is a dental examiner belonging to the Western Regional Boards in the United States (WREB), wherein the State of Washington belongs. As a matter of substantial public interest, if dentistry licensure is subject to a regional examination, then it may warrant the Washington State Supreme Court revisiting whether this practice area be subject solely to a state standard of care.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Suraj Pinto initiated a medical malpractice case against L. Douglas Trimble, MD, Gregory Vaughn, DDS and Paola Leone, DDS (collectively the "Respondents") after he experienced complications following orthognathic surgery and wilkodontics treatment. (CP 256-259). His claims focused on the quality of treatment that he received prior to and following surgery, which he alleges fell below the applicable standard of care. Additionally, he alleged a failure to receive the requisite informed consent related to his treatment from the named Respondents.

On May 15, 2015 Respondent, L. Douglas Trimble filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. Except for Dr. Trimble's counsel of record, there was no supporting declaration from Dr. Trimble nor any medical expert filed in conjunction with Dr. Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment nor submitted in strict reply to Mr. Pinto's Response. In fact, Dr. Trimble's initial Motion for Summary Judgment contained Mr. Pinto's voluminous responses to Dr. Trimble's First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents, many of which identified treating physicians and sufficient inferences sufficient to defeat Dr. Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Moreover, the record indisputably contained the declarations of Dr. James C. Rockwell, a Washington State licensed medical doctor, specializing in ears, nose and throats (aka ENT), as well as Jay Grossman, DDS; a licensed dentist from the State of California and the State of Nevada. (CP 52-65) Despite omitting any declaration from a medical expert or from Dr. Trimble himself, the trial court and the Court of Appeals wrongfully relied upon Dr. Trimble's legal memorandum and the declaration of his legal counsel to grant Dr. Trimble's Motion for Judgment on June 12, 2015. (CP 472-474).

Approximately four months later, Gregory Vaughn, DDS and Paola Leone, DDS, husband and wife and partners of Leone & Vaughn dental office, filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on August 7, 2015, seeking to dismiss Mr. Pinto's medical malpractice and informed consent claims. (CP 501-520). Thereafter, on September 9, 2015 they separately filed a Motion to Strike the testimony of Nicholas Panomitros, DDS on the grounds that disclosure of this witness was untimely and that he was not a qualified medical expert. (CP 704-713). It is important to note that prior to granting Leone & Vaughn's motion to strike, the trial court had already granted Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment, which should have rendered Leone & Vaughn's Motion to Strike Expert Testimony moot as all matters had been resolved. It should also be noted that Leone & Vaughn did not cite *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) or address the *Burnet* factors in their Motion to Strike and the trial court

conducted such analysis *sua sponte* at what was supposed to be a non-dispositive motion without oral argument. Furthermore, Leone & Vaughn's claimed prejudice for alleged discovery violations was the result of their failure to conduct a CR 26i conference until after the Court Ordered discovery cut-off and after the trial court denied both their motions for a continuance of the trial date and motion to amend the Case Scheduling Order. (CP 484-485, 668-669). *See*, **Appendix C** attached hereto and within is a true and correct copy of CR 26i.

Mr. Pinto contends that if there is a legal basis to grant Defendants Motion to Exclude Witnesses, there was no willful violation on his part. At the outset, Mr. Pinto timely disclosed Dr. Panomitros as a witness both in June 2015 (Compliant with the Trial Court's Scheduling Order) and in Plaintiff's September 14, 2015 Exchange of Witnesses and Exhibits for Trial.

At present and at the time following the surgery and treatments by Respondents, Mr. Pinto alleges he experiences symptoms of the tingling of the hands and feet, chest pains, high pulse rates, shortness of breath and sleep apnea. (CP 259).

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW TO BE APPLIED ON APPEAL IN DETERMINING THE QUALIFICATIONS FOR EXPERT TESTIMONY IN A SUMMARY JUDGMENT PROCEEDING IS "DE NOVO" NOT "ABUSE OF DISCRETION". ACCORDINGLY, THE JANUARY 23, 2017 COURT **APPEALS DECISION** CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS RENDERED BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS.

On Page 7 of the January 23, 2017 decision, the Court of Appeals states, "the standard for review on the qualifications of an expert is to be judged by the trial court, and its determination will not be set aside in the absence of a showing of abuse of discretion; this reasoning conflicts with the procedural facts and Washington State Supreme decisions. As such the analysis contained within the January 23, 2017 decision is flawed as a *de novo s*tandard should have more appropriately been applied.

On April 18, 2016 Mr. Suraj Pinto, appealed the King County Superior Court's June 12, 2015, September 17, 2015 and October 12, 2015 court orders granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents Dr. Douglas L. Trimble and Leone & Vaughn. Appellant's appeal was predicated, in part, on the trial court's determination that the appellant lacked qualified medical expert testimony and witnesses to overcome summary judgment. In accordance with CR 56 (c), Mr. Pinto puts forth that the trial court's granting of summary judgment and the Court of

Appeals decision affirming summary judgment amounted to reversible error because Mr. Pinto has provided declarations from qualified medical experts, a declaration from Appellant attesting to injuries, as well as interrogatory responses. *See*, **Appendix D** attached hereto and within is a true and correct copy of CR 56(c).

On January 23, 2017 this Court affirmed the trial court's granting of summary judgment and within its opinion reasoned the following:

"the qualifications of an expert are to be judged by the trial court, and its determination will not be set aside in the absence of a *showing of abuse of discretion*."

Citing, McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 706, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989) (quoting, Bernal v. America Honda Motor Co., 8 Wn.2d 406, 413, 533 P.2d 107 (1976)

Generally speaking, the *McKee* holding is both correct and applicable; however, where the qualifications and opinions are part of a summary judgment proceeding, an appeal on the qualifications of an expert witness is subject to *de novo* review. *See*, *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998) ["The de novo standard of review is used by an appellate court when reviewing all trial court rulings made in conjunction with a summary judgment motion."]; emphasis added.

Thus Mr. Pinto does not bear the burden on appeal in highlighting how the trial court judge abused his or her discretion in relation to the

qualification of a medical expert. The decision on whether Appellant's medical experts qualified as competent witnesses for purposes of overcoming summary judgment is *de novo*. Like the trial court, the Court of Appeals must construe all evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, in this case, Mr. Pinto. *Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co.*, 81 Wash.2d 140, 142, 500 P.2d 88 (1972); *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wash.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). As Mr. Pinto delineated in his response to summary judgment filed in the trial court and addressed in his opening brief, Respondents did not provide any competent evidence wherein there shows an absence of material facts wherein Mr. Pinto could not support his claims for medical negligence and informed consent.

In fact, although Respondents appears to suggest that only expert testimony qualifies in overcoming a summary judgment medical malpractice case, our Washington State Supreme Courts disagrees. In *Miller v. Jacoby*, 145 Wn.2d 65, 33 P.3d 68 (2001) the Washington State Supreme Court held that expert testimony is not required when medical facts are observable by a lay person's senses and describable without medical training. *Id.* at 72-73; emphasis added. In this case, Mr. Pinto made numerous documented contentions immediately following the surgery on how he did not feel right after the surgery performed. Moreover, while this surgery would expect to resolve sleep apnea; Mr. Pinto was diagnosed with severe sleep apnea in 2014.

As for the testimony of Dr. Grossman that was filed in conjunction with this Mr. Pinto's Response to Dr. Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment, it is important to note Dr. Grossman is a practicing Dentist licensed in the State of California and the State of Nevada. Although Dr, Grossman is not a doctor licensed in the State of Washington, an out-of-state practitioner of medicine may testify as an expert in a malpractice action against a defendant who is a practitioner of the same school of medicine if the practitioner has knowledge of the medical problem at issue and the standard of care required in the particular situation is a national one, not one that varies with geographic location. The Court of Appeal January 23, 2017 decision appears to conflict with *Elber v. Larson*, 142 Wn. App. 243, 247, 173 P.3d 990 (2007). As highlighted above, it is important to reiterate that Dr. Trimble received his education in Canada and received national certification from ABOMS, which is the certifying board for the specialty of oral and maxillofacial surgery in the United States, not Washington.

Although Dr. Grossman is not a maxillofacial surgeon, this does not matter in the realm of medical malpractice claims as the relevant field of expertise is not necessarily determined by the specific practice specialty, but rather by the familiarity with the treatment or disease. The January 23, 2017 decision appears to conflict with a litany of cases addressing this issue such as, *Morton v. McFall*, 128 Wn. App. 245, 253, 115 P.3d 1023 (2005) (internist qualified to testify against pulmonologist as to standard of care;

"[t]here is no general rule that prohibits ... a specialist in one area from testifying about another area"); Eng v. Klein, 127 Wn. App. 171, 172, 110 P.3d 844 (2005) (infectious disease expert qualified to testify against neurosurgeon regarding diagnosis of meningitis; diagnostic methods the same; "[i]t is the scope of a witness's knowledge and not artificial classification by professional title that governs the threshold question of admissibility of expert medical testimony in a malpractice case"); Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 677-80, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001) (plastic surgeon qualified to testify against orthopedic surgeon regarding cutaneous malignancies and bone grafting, where plastic surgeon also trained and experienced with the disease and treatment); White v. Kent Med. Ctr., 61 Wn. App. 163, 173-74, 810 P.2d 4 (1991) (physician is qualified as an expert where familiarity demonstrated with the procedure or medical problem at issue, even if not a specialist with respect to same; ENT physician qualified to testify as to standard of care for general practitioner); Miller v. Peterson, 42 Wn. App. 822, 830, 714 P.2d 695 (1986) (orthopedic surgeon qualified to testify about podiatrist's standard of care so long as both used the same methods of treatment). Where the methods of treatment are or should be the same as the defendant, the expert is qualified to testify. Eng v. Klein, 127 Wn. App. 171, 176, 110 P.3d 844 (2005); Miller v. Peterson, 42 Wn. App. 822, 830, 714 P.2d 695 (1986).

As this was *de novo*, Dr. Trimble never put forth a medical expert to oppose any of the contentions that Mr. Pinto's expert put forth and never objected to such testimony, respectfully on de novo, the Court in applying all reasonable inference in favor of the non-moving party must find that Mr. Pinto's expert affidavits contained sufficient factual support to defeat summary judgment.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION TO UPHOLD THE STRIKING OF DR. PANOMITROS DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE *BURNET* DECISION.

At page 10 of its opinion, the Court of Appeals states that "The trial court concluded the case schedule set out deadlines to facilitate discovery and trial preparation and '[defendants and their counsel are entitled to rely on the case schedule and state and local court rules.' The court opined that "just cause for delay' means something that is unusual that prevents the identification of expert witnesses and their opinions and factual bas[e]s and reason for the same, despite the exercise by counsel of due diligence."

It is thus very clear that the Court of Appeals essentially allowed the trial court to impose the ultimate sanction of excluding *the* central expert, Dr. Panometros, for nothing more than the fact that defendants were entitled to "rely on the case schedule." However, this Court has clearly held that "In any case, we are satisfied that it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to impose the severe sanction of limiting discovery and *excluding expert witness testimony* on the credentialing issue *without first having at least*

considered, on the record, a less severe sanction that could have advanced the purposes of discovery and yet compensated Sacred Heart for the effects of the Burnets' discovery failings. See Fisons, 122 Wash.2d at 355-56, 858 P.2d 1054. Furthermore, even if the trial court had considered other options before imposing the sanction that it did, we would be forced to conclude that the sanction imposed in this case was too severe in light of the length of time to trial, the undisputedly severe injury to Tristen, and the absence of a finding that the Burnets willfully disregarded an order of the trial court. See Lane v. Brown & Haley, 81 Wn.App. 102, 106, 912 P.2d 1040 ("[T]he law favors resolution of cases on their merits."), review denied, 129 Wn.2d 1028, 922 P.2d 98 (1996)."

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