RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

3/24/2017 4:47 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 94190-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 73650-7 - I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

SURAJ PINTO, Petitioner,

v.

GREGORY VAUGHN, PAOLA LEONE, LEONE & VAUGHN, DDS, P.S., L. DOUGLAS TRIMBLE, ET AL, Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY RESPONDENTS GREGORY VAUGHN, DDS, PAOLA LEONE, DDS, AND LEONE & VAUGHN, DDS, P.S.

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Petitioner Fails to Meet the Standards of Review Under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Decision Is Consistent with Well-Settled Case Law and Does Not Conflict with any Supreme Court or Court of Appeals' Decision.

Mr. Pinto does not cite to the RAP provision under which he seeks review; the entire Petition is devoid of a single citation to any RAP. The responding Orthodontists must, therefore, attempt to discern what Mr. Pinto is trying to argue. There is nothing in the convoluted Petition that meets *any* of the RAP 13.4(b) bases to warrant review by this Court. Discretionary review should be denied.

1. Petitioner's Argument that the Appellate Court Applied the Wrong Standard is Flat-Out Wrong. The Opinion Applied the Correct Standard and is Consistent with this Court's Prior Decisions.

Petitioner contends that the Court of Appeals incorrectly applied an "abuse of discretion" standard in reviewing the trial court's summary judgment dismissal. Petitioner is wrong. The first sentence of the "ANALYSIS" portion of the Opinion plainly states, "[w]e review a summary judgment order **de novo**, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court" and cites to Lallasv. Skagit County, 167 Wn.2d 861, 22d P.3d 910 (2009) (emphasis added). (Op. at 6.) The Opinion then goes on for several pages discussing the evidence before the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals methodically explains why Petitioner's evidence fails to create any genuine issues of material fact. The Court of Appeals explained, in detail, that it reviewed all of the evidence before it and deemed that Mr. Pinto failed to create any issue of material fact. In other words, the Court of Appeals engaged in the same inquiry as the trial court. The appellate court arrived at the same decision as the trial court -summary judgment dismissal is the appropriate outcome. This is not surprising, given that plaintiff failed to satisfy his requirements under

- 5 -

well-settled Washington law regarding the evidence necessary for medical negligence claims.

In a stretch, Mr. Pinto has latched on to one phrase in the Opinion and attempts to craft his whole argument around this phrase. True the Opinion does include a statement of law from McKee v. Am. Home Prods., Corp., 113 Wn.2d 701, 706, 782 P.2d 145 (1989) (citation omitted), which includes the words, " the qualifications of an expert are to be judged by the trial court, and its determination will not be set aside in the absence of a showing of abuse of discretion." (Op. at 6-7.) That is a true and correct statement of current Washington law. However, while the Opinion includes this correct statement of law, the Court of Appeals did not apply an "abuse of discretion" standard in affirming summary judgment dismissal. The Court of Appeals merely referenced this statement of law in the larger context of its *de novo* review of the entire record before it. The analysis section of the Opinion makes clear that the appellate court conducted its own de novo review of the evidence - the trial court decision is not even mentioned.

Accordingly, there is no conflict between the appellate Opinion here and any decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. The decision articulated the applicable Washington Iaw and then proceeded to explain its decision in accordance with the same. Mr. Pinto's

- 6 -

disagreement with the correctly decided legal outcome of his case does not mean the learned appellate court's decision conflicts with controlling law.

2. In Accordance with Well-Settled Medical Malpractice Law, the Court of Appeals Ruled That Plaintiff's Case Required Expert Testimony.

While not noted in his issues for review, in the midst of Petitioner's jumbled argument section, he slips in the suggestion that the Court of Appeals was wrong in ruling that expert support was required to sustain his medical and dental malpractice claims. Petitioner claims that expert testimony was not necessary because he, a lay person, documented after surgery that "he did not feel right." (Pet. at 8.)

This argument fails. Well-settled Washington law has long dictated that expert testimony is needed in medical malpractice cases. The plaintiff in a medical negligence case must, almost always (and certainly here), provide expert medical testimony to show that the injury he or she complains of proximately resulted from the failure of the defendant to comply with the applicable standard of medical care. RCW 7.70.040; *Harris v. Robert C. Groth*, M.D., Inc., P.S., 99 Wn.2d 438, 663 P.2d 113 (1983); *Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn. App. 666, 676, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001); *McKee v. Am. Home Prods. Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 706–07, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989). That standard of care is statutory in Washington: "The health care provider failed to exercise that degree of care, skill, and learning

expected of a reasonably prudent health care provider at that time in the profession or class to which he belongs, in the state of Washington, acting in the same or similar circumstances." RCW 7.70.040(1); *Elber v. Larson*, 142 Wn. App. 243, 247, 173 P.3d 990, 992 (2007). Except in unusual circumstances, none of which apply here, medical testimony is required to establish the standard of care and proximate cause issues in medical negligence actions. *Harris v. Groth*, 99 Wn.2d 438, 449, 663 P.2d 113 (1983); *Morinaga v. Vue*, 85 Wn. App. 822, 831-32, 935 P.2d 637, *rev. denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1012, 946 P.2d 401 (1997); *Douglas v. Bussabarger*, 73 Wn.2d 476, 479, 438 P.2d 829 (1968); *Bennett*, 95 Wn.2d at 533, 627 P.2d 104 (1981); *O'Donoghue v. Riggs*, 73 Wn.2d 814, 824, 440 P.2d 823 (1968).

Here, it is undisputed that the malpractice allegations and alleged injuries concerned maxillary and mandibular orthognathic surgery, orthodontics, wilkodontics, and sleep apnea, which all entail specialized medical/dental training that is beyond the experience of a layperson. Petitioner's "contention" that he "did not feel right" after surgery (Pet. at 8.) does not equate to the presence of a foreign body or cutting off the wrong limb. Mr. Pinto's "feelings" do not erase the necessity of expert testimony to establish the standard of care, violation thereof, materiality of risks, and causation. This is not even a close call. If Petitioner's argument were to be accepted, Washington statutes and case law would be upended and courts would be flooded with so-called professional malpractice cases. Nonsense.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that expert testimony was necessary here. The court noted that there are exceptions to this rule and then explained why those exceptions do not apply in this case. In other words, the Court of Appeals explained and then followed applicable case law. Again, because Mr. Pinto disagrees with the outcome does not mean that both the trial court and Court of Appeals deviated from controlling case law. There is no conflict here that warrants review by the Supreme Court.

3. The Court of Appeals' Ruling Regarding Dr. Grossman Does Not Conflict With Controlling Washington Law.

In another departure from the Petition's stated issues for review, the Petition devotes pages 9 to 11 discussing his expert Dr. Grossman's supposed qualifications.

As a threshold matter, this argument seemingly does not apply to the respondent Orthodontists because Dr. Grossman (and Dr. Rockwell) were never identified to be used as experts against the respondent Orthodontists (Op. at 5) and Mr. Pinto has not assigned error in this regard. Therefore, this issue has been waived as to the Orthodontists and cannot constitute a valid grounds for discretionary review. *See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 808, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992), citing *Nearing v. Golden State Foods Corp.*, 114 Wn.2d 817, 818, 792 P.2d 500 (1990).

To the extent any of Petitioner's arguments as to Dr. Grossman's qualifications apply to the respondent Orthodontists, these arguments should be rejected. First, the Petition does not articulate how the appellate court supposedly deviated from binding case law, let alone provide argument supported by authority as to any alleged error. It appears that Petitioner is arguing that (1) the standard of care for an oral and maxillofacial surgeon is a national one and therefore Dr. Grossman's lack of Washington licensure and experience did not matter; and (2) it also does not matter that Dr. Grossman is not a maxillofacial surgeon like Dr. Trimble, because expertise is not necessarily defined by the specific practice specialty. The Appellate Court addressed these arguments and noted that Dr. Grossman was deficient as an expert not because of his geographic location or his stated specialty but because Dr. Grossman was deficient because, inter alia, he (1) "failed to identify education, medical training, or supervisory experience that demonstrated his familiarity with the standard of care for an oral surgeon"; (2) failed to set forth the applicable standard of care in that "the few references by Dr. Grossman to

the standard of care were vague and conclusory," and, (3) "offer[ed] no authority supporting [the] generous inference" regarding standard of care offered in his declaration. (Op. at 8-9.)

In short, the Court of Appeals determined that Dr. Grossman was deficient as an expert for a litany of reasons, all unrelated to his geographic location and his purported medical specialty. There was no deviation from applicable case law -- the Court of Appeals cited to and followed *Davies v. Holy Family v. Holy Family Hosp.*, 144 Wn. App. 483, 183 P.3d 283 (2008), in analogizing the two cases: "[s]imilar to the radiologist in Davies, Dr. Grossman failed to identify education, medical training, or supervisory experience that demonstrated his familiarity with the standard of care for an oral surgeon." (Op. at 8.)

Contrary to Petitioner's contention, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with *Elber v. Larson*, 142 Wn. App. 243, 173 P.3d 990 (2007). In *Elber*, the out of state expert's testimony was determined to be acceptable because he affirmatively set forth that he was familiar with the standard of care of a neurosurgeon on Washington and that he was familiar with the medical procedure at issue. Here, Dr. Grossman did neither. Review should be denied, as there is no "conflict" with existing law for the Supreme Court to review.

4. There is no *Burnet* Issue for the Supreme Court to Review. Petitioner Has Not Previously Assigned Error to the Trial Court's *Burnet* Analysis, and the Trial Court Adhered to *Burnet*.

Four pages of the Petition (Pet. at 11-15) are devoted arguing that the Court of Appeals decision to uphold the striking of (plaintiff's expert) Dr. Panomitros does not comply with the *Burnet* decision.¹ This section is a waste of word salad because as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "Pinto does not assign error to the trial court's analysis of the *Burnet* factors." (Op. at 10, n.32). The *Burnet* case is not even cited in Mr. Pinto's Appellant's Brief. Accordingly, Petitioner cannot now rely on an alleged conflict of either the trial or the appellate court's decisions with *Burnet* as a basis for further review.

Even if Mr. Pinto had not waived this issue long ago, there is no conflict for the Supreme Court to review. While not central to its decision because plaintiff had waived the issue, the Appellate Court noted that the trial court had adhered to *Burnet*, in that it had "considered the *Burnet* factors on the record in its analysis." (Op. at 10, n.32.) In addition, the Court of Appeals recognized that "[a]s part of its findings and conclusions, the trial court submitted a detailed analysis addressing the standards in *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 (2013), *as*

¹ Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

corrected (Feb. 5, 2014), and *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). *See* CP at 922." (Op. at 4, n.8.) Indeed, the *Burnet* factors were discussed on the record at the hearing, after which the trial court issued a seven-page order that included findings of fact and conclusions of law where the court explained, "[i]n reaching the decisions herein, this Court recognizes the requirements and processes set forth in *Jones* and *Burnet*, and the Court has conducted a *Burnet* analysis." (CP 945.) The order contains a detailed, multi-page, analysis explaining the court's consideration of each *Burnet* factor, including willfulness, prejudice and lesser sanctions. (CP 945-947.)

Overall, the trial court order is a fine example of a deliberate and methodical *Burnet* analysis. Given both the trial court's and Court of Appeals' explicit references to adhering to *Burnet*, Mr. Pinto's contention is unfounded. There is no conflict for the Supreme Court to review.

B. There Is No "Issue of Substantial Public Interest" Here and Nothing for the Court to Determine Under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Petition concludes with a Hail Mary argument that suggests there is an issue of substantial public interest here for the Supreme Court to determine. The argument falls short. Mr. Pinto asserts that Washington law is unclear as to whether the medical standard of care should be evaluated on state or national level. Not true.

Petitioner's attempt to reframe the Dr. Panomitros issue as one of public interest should be discounted. Mr. Pinto's contention that his expert Dr. Panomitros was found inadequate because he practices in Illinois and not Washington (Pet. at 15) is factually false. Like Dr. Grossman, Dr. Panomitros was deficient as an expert not because of his practice location but because Petitioner failed to set forth that affirmatively that Dr. Panomitros was qualified to render opinions in this case. Like Dr. Grossman, Dr. Panomitros's declarations were deemed inadequate by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals not because he practices in Illinois but because his reports were deficient for a long list of reasons. At issue here is the orthodontic care and treatment provided by the respondent Orthodontists, yet Petitioner's expert's declaration did "not identify any education from Dr. Panomitros related to the orthodontia. It does not refer to any medical training related to orthodontia. It does not refer to any supervisory experience related to orthodontia --- anything that would demonstrate his familiarity, his expertise, his exposure to the standard of care for the specialty." (Op. at 5.) Further, Dr. Panomitros' declaration was deficient in establishing materiality of risks associated with the orthodontic procedures rendered, and with regard to causation issues. His expert declaration was filled with "conclusory opinions"; did not contain "any recitation of the salient facts, or documents" to support

- 14 -

his opinions, failed to articulate the standard of care for orthodontists, and failed to articulate how each defendant individually violated the standard of care and/or failed to obtain informed consent." (Op. at 5.) Overall, Dr. Panomitros was not disqualified based on geography; he was disqualified because his submissions failed to "affirmatively show that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters therein" as required under Washington law. *See Lilly v. Lynch*, 88 Wn. App. 306, 320, 945 P.2d 727 (1997). Dr. Panomitros never articulated the appropriate standard of care for orthodontists; and overall, his report was largely a "mishmash" of "conclusory opinions" unsupported by references to any records. (RP 9/17/15, p. 56).

Simply put, there is no "state vs. national" issue of substantial public policy here to resolve. The state vs. national distinction was not germane in the decisions of the trial court or the Court of Appeals. Moreover, Washington law is settled on this issue. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) should be denied.

VI. CONCLUSION

Plaintiff had the responsibility to prove all elements of a claim under RCW 7.70.040. Despite having years to secure the requisite expert testimony, he failed. The trial court and Court of Appeals each had the /// responsibility to apply the law, not to save a claim that fell short legally and as a matter of proof. Both courts applied the law correctly. Review of the unpublished Opinion is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b).